IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

FILED

06/05/2023

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 21-0567

No. DA 21-0567

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

GARRETT MICHAEL O'HOWELL,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District Court, Broadwater County, the Honorable Michael Menahan, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

CHAD WRIGHT
Appellate Defender
JEFF N. WILSON
Assistant Appellate Defender
Office of State Public Defender
Appellate Defender Division
P.O. Box 200147
Helena, MT 59620-0147
jwilson@mt.gov
(406) 444-9505

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did the deputy unlawfully seize Garrett O'Howell and extend the minor traffic stop into a criminal investigation when he required identification from O'Howell and the other passengers?

Other than testimony from two accomplices trying to save their own skin, the State had no evidence Garret O'Howell intended to help distribute the meth found in Katelyn Smock's car. Was there insufficient evidence corroborating the accomplices' testimony?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

O'Howell appeals the denial of his motion to suppress and subsequent conviction for one felony drug charge and one misdemeanor paraphernalia charge after a jury trial.

After a May 4, 2020, traffic stop involving O'Howell and three others, the State charged O'Howell with Count I: Accountability for Criminal Possession of Dangerous Drugs (CPDD) with Intent to Distribute in violation of Montana Code Annotated §§ 45-9-103, 45-2-301 (2019); and Count II: Criminal Possession of Drug Paraphernalia in violation of Montana Code Annotated § 45-10-103. (D.C. Doc. 2, 30, 33.)

O'Howell moved to suppress evidence collected after the traffic stop on several grounds, arguing the investigating officer lacked particularized suspicion to extend the stop beyond its original purpose, and that O'Howell had been unlawfully seized. (D.C. Doc. 19.) After an evidentiary hearing and additional briefing, the district court denied O'Howell's motion. (D.C. Doc. 25, 27, 38, 47.) (D.C. Doc. 47, Order on Motion to Suppress, attached as Appendix A.)

Trial occurred May 3 and 4, 2021. (D.C. Doc. 54, 55.) O'Howell moved for a new trial afterward; the court held a hearing and denied the request. (D.C. Doc. 59, 60, 70.) The court sentenced O'Howell to the Department of Corrections for ten years with five suspended, granting credit for 458 days served on the felony conviction, and six months jail with credit for six months served on the misdemeanor. (D.C. Doc. 72, Judgment and Commitment, attached as Appendix B.) O'Howell timely appealed. (D.C. Doc. 76.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. The traffic stop.

Deputy Tony Cordova of the Broadwater County Sheriff's Office saw two males seated in the back of a parked sedan "staring" at him when he pulled into a Townsend gas station around 9:00 p.m. (12/10/20 Evidentiary Hearing Transcript at 6–8.) The men were repeatedly "looking at [Cordova] and then looking away." (12/10/20 Tr. at 8.) Though people look at him all the time, Cordova considered it "suspicious." (12/10/20 Tr. at 39.)

Smock and O'Howell exited the gas station and got into the sedan with two men in back. (12/10/20 Tr. at 9.) Smock entered the driver seat and O'Howell entered the front passenger seat. (12/10/20 Tr. at 9.) The sedan pulled out of the lot onto Highway 287 heading south. (12/10/20 Tr. at 10.)

Cordova decided to run Smock's license plate number "[b]ecause of suspicious activity inside of the vehicle with them looking at [him]." (12/10/20 Tr. at 9–10.) The car was registered to a female with a revoked license. (12/10/20 Tr. at 11–12.) Cordova followed the sedan and saw one of the men look back and appear to "kind of fidget[] with something on the floorboard." (12/10/20 Tr. at 12.) Cordova activated his radar and clocked the car at 52 miles per hour in a 45 mile-per-hour zone. (12/10/20 Tr. at 13.)

Cordova activated his emergency lights. (12/10/20 Tr. at 14.)

Smock pulled over and Cordova approached wearing his uniform,
tactical vest, and a firearm strapped to his leg. (Exhibit A, Patrol Car

Video at 1:00–1:20.) Cordova's emergency lights remained on; his
headlights shone brightly against Smock's car throughout the stop. (Ex.

A at 1:00–18:00.) Cordova notified Smock she was speeding and that the
registered owner of the vehicle had a revoked license. (Exhibit B, Body

Camera 1 at 0:30–0:50.) He asked Smock for her license, she admitted
she did not have one but said it was her car. (Ex. B at 0:30–0:55.)

Cordova asked for her registration and insurance cards, which she said
were at home. (Ex. B at 0:40–1:00.)

Cordova quickly turned to the male passengers and asked for identification or valid drivers' licenses. (Ex. B at 1:00–1:18.) None had valid licenses. (Ex. B at 1:00–2:30.) O'Howell's had been stolen. (Ex. B at 1:00–2:30.) One of the rear passengers, Kody Laird, did not have his with him; and the other passenger, Donald Hamlin, had only a learner's permit, though he was over fifty years old. (Ex. B at 1:00–2:30.) None could drive Smock's car to avoid a tow.

Cordova asked the three men if any were on probation or parole. (Ex. B at 1:20–1:26.) Hamlin said he was on probation out of Helena where his son just had surgery and he was headed back home. (Ex. B at 1:15–1:45.) Cordova wanted to figure out who could drive the car. (Ex. B at 1:40–1:50.) He asked the men, not Smock, for names and birthdates. (Ex. B at 1:55–2:18.) Hamlin gave Cordova two copies of identification; Cordova returned one and kept the other. (Ex. B at 3:00–3:20.) Cordova doublechecked each name and date the men gave. (Ex. B at 3:45–4:05.) Cordova requested Smock sit in his vehicle; she asked why. (Ex. B at 4:05–4:45.) He wanted to figure out why her license was revoked though Smock never asked. (Ex. B at 4:05–4:45.)

Inside his patrol car, Cordova asked Smock if the men were her friends. (Ex. A at 5:55–6:05.) He asked where she came from and what she did that day. (Ex. A at 6:20–6:40.) Smock explained she was at home in Helena and her friends needed a ride. (Ex. A at 6:20–6:40.) Cordova asked if any of the men had warrants and why none had identification. (Ex. A at 7:00–7:15.) Cordova then asked her name for the first time; Smock provided it, and Cordova asked dispatch for the "RO," or registered owner of the vehicle, which dispatch had already

provided before the stop. (Ex. A at 7:15–7:30; 5/3/20 Jury Trial Day 1 Transcript at 90–91.) Cordova advised dispatch that no one had identification and Smock interjected that she did; Cordova also had Hamlin's ID in his hand. (Ex. A at 7:30–7:40.) Cordova gave the passengers' names to dispatch along with information he learned about their licenses and probation status. (Ex. A at 7:40–8:45.) He did not ask dispatch for information about Smock.

Cordova asked Smock how long she had been revoked, how many tickets she had for suspended driving, and whether she was on probation. (Ex. A at 8:45–9:10.) Smock explained her need to get SR-22 insurance. (Ex. A at 9:10–9:30.)

"Is there something illegal in that vehicle?" (Ex. A at 9:15–9:30.)

"All three of your guys are, sketching out, and looking back at us. They are doing something in there." (Ex. A at 9:30–9:45.) Cordova asked

Smock if there was marijuana, cocaine, heroin, or methamphetamine in the car, which she denied. (Ex. A at 9:40–9:55.) He asked Smock if it was her vehicle even though he had already received confirmation of the registered owner from dispatch, and Smock claimed ownership earlier.

(Ex. A at 9:50–9:59.) He then asked Smock for her date of birth, which

she provided, and if she was under the influence of anything, which she denied. (Ex. A at 9:55–10:20.)

Cordova commented how the guys in Smock's car keep looking back. (Ex. A at 10:20–10:40.) Smock offered to ask them what was going on. (Ex. A at 10:20–10:40.) Cordova directed her to stay in the patrol car. (Ex. A at 10:30–10:50.)

Still in the patrol car, Smock asked if there was "anything else, is there any problems, or anything." (Ex. A at 10:45–11:00.) "Well yea, look how fidgety this guy is. . . Right now, I believe there is something illegal in that car." (Ex. A at 10:50–11:05.) Smock suggested Hamlin, who had a permit, drive the car; Cordova did not believe that would be okay. (Ex. A at 11:05–11:30.) "I just wanna make sure there is nothing illegal in your car, okay? . . . Everyone is moving around." (Ex. A at 11:25–11:40.) "I'm gonna go up there and figure out what is going on." (Ex. A at 11:35–11:45.)

Montana Highway Patrol Officer Mackenzie Gifford arrived to assist. (Ex. A at 11:40–11:50.) Cordova brought Gifford up to speed; "No one has IDs besides this back left guy, . . . they are all moving around, looking back here right now. And she's revoked, I'm gonna give her a

ticket for revoked. We haven't gotten read backs on all of 'em yet so, I'm just hanging out." (Ex. A at 11:50–12:10.)

Next, Cordova instructed Smock to remain in the car, as he was going to go "talk with" O'Howell after dispatch advised him of O'Howell's active warrant from Lewis and Clark County. (Ex. A at 12:10–12:45; 12/10/20 Tr. at 26.) Cordova and Gifford patted O'Howell down and placed him in handcuffs. (Ex. A at 12:40–14:35.) Cordova told O'Howell he was merely being detained, but he was under arrest. (Ex. A at 14:35–14:55; 12/10/20 Tr. at 26–28.) O'Howell did not have any drugs or dangerous items on him. (5/3/21 Tr. at 102.)

Cordova asked dispatch to confirm O'Howell's warrant and told Smock he was going to give her a ticket. (Ex. A at 15:20–15:45.) He asked for Smock's phone number and wrote a citation. (Ex. A at 15:55–16:45.)

Suddenly, Hamlin exited the sedan, Laird crawled into the front, and drove away. (Ex. A at 17:15–17:35.) Cordova rushed to try and stop Laird but failed; Gifford pursued him in her patrol car. (Ex. A at 17:15–17:40.) Cordova grabbed Hamlin. (Ex. A at 17:30–17:45.) Cordova took O'Howell to jail, leaving Smock and Hamlin on the side of the highway.

(D.C. Doc. 2 at 3.) After law enforcement stopped Laird, they searched the car, and inside found 116.7 grams of methamphetamine in multiple bags, snort tubes, and over 25 syringes—some appeared to be loaded and ready for use, and others appeared to already be used. (5/3/21 Tr. at 109, 115, 119–125, 131; State's Exhibit 41.) Cordova found most of the meth wedged under the rear passenger seat. (5/3/21 Tr. at 132.)

II. The trial.

O'Howell denied knowledge of any plan to distribute Hamlin's meth. (5/4/21 Tr. at 68–69, 92–93, 100–01, 103–05.) Hamlin already pled guilty to CPDD with Intent to Distribute based on the meth wedged in the back seat. (5/3/21 Tr. at 132–33.) Hamlin refused to testify despite a State subpoena, so the jury never heard the specifics underlying Hamlin's plea. (5/3/21 Tr. at 197.)

The State sought to prove O'Howell was part of a "four-person agreement" to commit the crime of possessing dangerous drugs with the intent to distribute by proving the following: Hamlin had drugs and wanted to sell them in Billings. (5/3/21 Tr. at 76–77.) Hamlin linked up with Laird in Helena, then O'Howell, who recruited Smock to drive them all to Billings. (5/3/21 Tr. at 77–78.) Cordova foiled the plan after

a routine traffic stop resulted in the seizure of a large amount of methamphetamine, paraphernalia, and criminal convictions for Smock, Laird, and Hamlin. (5/3/21 Tr. at 78–79.)

O'Howell helped in "two significant ways." (5/3/21 Tr. at 79.)

O'Howell "went and got a car and a driver so they could make the trip to Billings, . . . [a]nd then he also helped [Hamlin] by actually driving the car from Helena to Townsend." (5/3/21 Tr. at 79.) "The whole point of this was to get some drugs, share some drugs, sell some drugs." (5/3/21 Tr. at 80.)

Cordova testified how his attention was first drawn by the two men staring at him, which led to the traffic stop. (5/3/21 Tr. at 89–99.)

After Laird drove away, Cordova helped catch him, searched the car, and seized the drugs and paraphernalia found inside. (5/3/21 Tr. at 105, 115–32.)

A. Smock's testimony.

Smock was initially charged with CPDD with Intent to Distribute, which was later dropped as part of a plea agreement in which she pled guilty to drug possession for a little bag of meth stashed under the driver seat. (5/3/21 Tr. at 178, 183–84, 191.) Smock was not "going to

take someone else's charges" since she was not aware of all the other meth in her car. (5/3/21 Tr. at 178, 183–84.) She made an agreement with the State to testify against O'Howell, and the others. (5/3/21 Tr. at 190–91.)

Smock and O'Howell were friends. (5/3/21 Tr. at 170.) O'Howell asked her to give him and his friends a ride from Helena to Billings. (5/3/21 Tr. at 170–71.) Smock barely knew Laird and had never met Hamlin. (5/3/21 Tr. at 172.) She was reluctant to go because she had visitors at her house, but eventually agreed. (5/3/21 Tr. at 171–72.) Smock believed O'Howell asked for the ride so his friends could get to Billings. (5/3/21 Tr. at 173.) She and O'Howell did not discuss any plan to distribute drugs. (5/3/21 Tr. at 173.)

O'Howell drove initially. (5/3/21 Tr. at 174.) They stopped at a gas station and Hamlin paid for the gas. (5/3/21 Tr. at 174–75.) There, O'Howell told Smock that Hamlin had "some stuff on him." (5/3/21 Tr. at 175.) Smock interpreted "stuff" to mean drugs. (5/3/21 Tr. at 175.) "So pretty much [Hamlin] was probably going to get us high, or something like that, I guess is probably what [O'Howell] meant." (5/3/21 Tr. at 192.) O'Howell did not say how much Hamlin had. (5/3/21 Tr. at 175.)

Nor did O'Howell say, "He's going to give us some," or, "He's going to sell us some," or, "He's going to use." (5/3/21 Tr. at 175–76.) Smock had not yet seen any syringes, anyone shooting up, nor anyone snorting anything. (5/3/21 Tr. at 179.) There was no discussion about getting drugs from Hamlin. (5/3/21 Tr. at 176.)

But upon leaving the gas station, Smock drove so O'Howell could get high. (5/3/21 Tr. at 177–79.) He was going to shoot up with a syringe that Hamlin handed him. (5/3/21 Tr. at 179–80.) Smock did not know whether Hamlin gave any drugs to Laird. (5/3/21 Tr. at 180.) She never saw O'Howell use the syringe because moments later, Cordova began following and pulled them over. (5/3/21 Tr. at 180–81.)

B. Laird's testimony.

Laird testified that he pled guilty to Criminal Endangerment for his driving behavior after leaving in Smock's car and possession of drug paraphernalia, while four or five other drug charges got dismissed. (5/4/21 Tr. at 20, 43–46.) His plea agreement required that he testify against O'Howell and the others. (5/4/21 Tr. at 44.)

Laird's girlfriend asked him to find Hamlin a ride from Helena to Billings. (5/4/21 Tr. at 21.) Hamlin's car broke down in Missoula; he found his way to Helena and wanted to return home to Billings. (5/4/21 Tr. at 22, 43.) Hamlin had drugs, so he and Laird got high, then Laird tried finding a ride. (5/4/21 Tr. at 22.)

Laird contacted O'Howell because he knew O'Howell wanted to pick his dog up in Billings. (5/4/21 Tr. at 22–23, 30.) Laird claimed to tell O'Howell that Hamlin had a large amount of drugs and would "hook [them] up with some" along the way, and once they got to Billings, would give them some for the ride back. (5/4/21 Tr. at 23, 29–30.)

O'Howell arranged a ride with Smock. (5/4/21 Tr. at 24.) Once Smock arrived with a car, the four went to two different stores in Helena in search of a pipe to smoke meth. (5/4/21 Tr. at 25.) Neither store had it, so they headed toward Townsend. (5/4/21 Tr. at 25.) Hamlin brought meth, some of which was in syringes. (5/4/21 Tr. at 25–26.) Laird also claimed that a backpack found in the car belonged to O'Howell, and that it contained several syringes. (5/4/21 Tr. at 27.)

The State asked Laird if "at some point along the way, was there any discussion that [Hamlin] had drugs that he was trying to sell somewhere[.]" (5/4/21 Tr. at 25.) Laird answered, "Yeah. I mean -- well, me and [O'Howell] both knew that there was more drugs. . . . I don't

believe [Smock] knew how much drugs were in the car. But we talked -- I told -- we were talking about it, and I told them, like, 'Hey, when we get to Billings, we'll get high, and [Hamlin] will give you guys some drugs for letting us use the car and some money for going all the way there." (5/4/21 Tr. at 25.)

O'Howell drove first, but later switched with Smock. (5/4/21 Tr. at 31.) Laird asked Smock to assume the wheel because O'Howell was swerving, not because O'Howell wanted to get high. (5/4/21 Tr. at 31.) Laird assumed O'Howell was already high. (5/4/21 Tr. at 31–32.) Smock was driving when they got pulled over. (5/4/21 Tr. at 34.)

C. O'Howell's testimony.

O'Howell testified to living near Smock in Helena. (5/4/21 Tr. at 69.) He had known Smock for a couple of years and received rides from her before. (5/4/21 Tr. at 71–72.) She often let him drive. (5/4/21 Tr. at 83.) He knew Smock used drugs, but was unaware whether she was using in May of 2020. (5/4/21 Tr. at 72–73.)

O'Howell contacted Smock after his friend, Bonnie, asked if he could give her friend a ride to Billings. (5/4/21 Tr. at 65–67, 77.) Bonnie was Laird's girlfriend at the time; O'Howell knew Laird through

Bonnie. (5/4/21 Tr. at 65–67, 71.) Hamlin was also Bonnie's friend. (5/4/21 Tr. at 71.) He lived in Billings and came to Helena to visit his son at the hospital after the child's surgery and wanted to go home. (5/4/21 Tr. at 67–69.) O'Howell wanted to retrieve his dog in Billings. (5/4/21 Tr. at 66.) The State pressed O'Howell about the purpose of the trip, claiming no one's testimony mentioned getting a dog. (5/4/21 Tr. at 105.) However, Laird mentioned O'Howell wanting to retrieve his dog three different times. (5/4/21 Tr. at 23, 30–31, 41.)

O'Howell recalled driving first. (5/4/21 Tr. at 68.) He explained that the headlights from oncoming traffic were somewhat blinding at night, which caused him to swerve a bit. (5/4/21 Tr. at 68.) This was why Smock began driving in Townsend. (5/4/21 Tr. at 68.) O'Howell also recalled telling Smock that Hamlin would pay for the gas but denied telling her that Hamlin had some "stuff" on him. (5/4/21 Tr. at 93.)

D. Closing argument and jury instructions.

In closing argument, the State highlighted the primary issue to be decided: "[T]he whole question is did [O'Howell] actually know what was going on there?" (5/4/21 Tr. at 127.)

The State argued that Laird provided testimony about Hamlin's intent to "go to Billings and sell drugs," and "before [Hamlin] even gets to Billings, he's going to distribute drugs by sharing it with his buddies." (5/4/21 Tr. at 114.) No one testified about a plan Hamlin concocted to sell drugs in Billings. Laird did testify about sharing drugs in the vehicle, claiming Hamlin told him, "I'll give you some drugs," and Laird "told [O'Howell] that he would get some money from [Hamlin] and some drugs, and we'd get high on the way." (5/4/21 Tr. at 23–24.)

The jury received two instructions on accomplice testimony.

(Exhibits at 19, 21.) One stated, in part, "It is a question of fact for the jury to determine from the evidence and from the law as given to you by me whether or not in this particular case the witnesses [] Laird or [] Hamlin or [] Smock is or is not legally accountable within the meaning of the law. . . . A conviction cannot be had on the testimony of one legally accountable unless the testimony is corroborated by other evidence that in itself and without the aid of the testimony of the one responsible or legally accountable for the same offense tends to connect the defendant with the commission of the offense." (Exhibits at 19.) The verdict form did not include any language asking the jury to determine

whether Laird and/or Smock were legally accountable for the same offense. (D.C. Doc. 54.) The jury convicted O'Howell of Accountability for CPDD with Intent to Distribute and Criminal Possession of Drug Paraphernalia. (D.C. Doc. 54.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for a district court's ruling on a motion to suppress is whether the court's findings are clearly erroneous and whether those findings were applied correctly as a matter of law. *State v. Carrywater*, 2022 MT 131, ¶ 11, 409 Mont. 194, 512 P.3d 1180 (citing *State v. Wilson*, 2018 MT 268, ¶ 21, 393 Mont. 238, 430 P.3d 77). A finding is clearly erroneous if it is not supported by substantial credible evidence, if the trial court misapprehended the effect of the evidence, or if review of the record gives the Court a firm conviction that a mistake has been made. *Carrywater*, ¶ 11 (citing *State v. Harning*, 2022 MT 61, ¶ 13, 408 Mont. 140, 507 P.3d 145).

Whether there is sufficient evidence to corroborate testimony of an accomplice is a question of law. $State\ v.\ Tollie,\ 2022\ MT\ 59,\ \P\ 12,\ 408$ Mont. 129, 506 P.3d 1021 (citing $State\ v.\ Fey,\ 2000\ MT\ 211,\ \P\ 5,\ 301$ Mont. 28, 7 P.3d 358). This Court reviews a district court's legal

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