IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 21-0567

---

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

GARRETT MICHAEL O'HOWELL,

Defendant and Appellant.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

---

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District Court,  
Broadwater County, The Honorable Michael Menahan, Presiding

---

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN  
Montana Attorney General  
KATIE F. SCHULZ  
Assistant Attorney General  
215 North Sanders  
P.O. Box 201401  
Helena, MT 59620-1401  
Phone: 406-444-2026  
kschulz@mt.gov

CORY SWANSON  
Broadwater County Attorney  
Broadwater County Courthouse  
515 Broadway Street  
Townsend, MT 59644

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF  
AND APPELLEE

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

Here, Deputy Cordova simply asked the passengers their names and whether they had a driver's license or were on probation. Such non-intrusive inquiries, which all three voluntarily answered, constituted a *de minimus* intrusion that was designed to further the reason for the stop (make sure valid, safe drivers on the road) and deputy safety (ask if on probation). Montana Code Annotated and this Court's jurisprudence did not limit Deputy Cordova's authority to *request* the names of Smock's passengers or if they were on probation.

Additionally, given the unique facts of this case—particularly that the deputy knew it would not be legal for Smock to continue to drive—asking if any of the passengers had a valid driver's license was a reasonable inquiry given the circumstances of the stop (Smock not legal to drive; vehicle is stopped on side of busy highway outside of town). While the deputy had noted suspicious behaviors by the backseat passengers, he was justified in asking if anyone had a valid driver's license during the lawfully conducted stop once the deputy confirmed Smock did not have a valid driver's license. O'Howell's characterization of the deputy's inquiry about the passengers' information as a "pretext" and an "investigation," is inaccurate. (Br. at 20.) Deputy Cordova articulated this objective data that had nothing to do with his earlier observations of the passengers' behaviors prior to the lawful stop.

As the deputy testified, if one of the passengers had stated they had a valid driver's license, he would have let them continue on after issuing citations to Smock. However, within five minutes of stopping the vehicle, Deputy Cordova learned that two of the passengers did not have valid driver's licenses and the third only had a learner's permit.

O'Howell relies on *State v. Strom*, 2014 MT 234, 376 Mont. 277, 333 P.3d 218. (Br. at 24-27.) However, that case is distinguishable from the circumstances here. In *Strom*, during routine patrol, an officer pulled up behind a parked van in the parking lot of a local park during daylight hours. *Strom*, ¶¶ 4-5. Strom was in the passenger seat and her friend, S.J., was in the driver's seat. *Id.* The deputy did not articulate any belief of wrongdoing, but noted the van, which was not running, was the only vehicle in the lot and he believed it to be "suspicious." *Id.* When the deputy got to the driver's window, he noticed "how young S.J. looked" so he asked her for her driver's license. *Id.* S.J. told him she did not have a driver's license and handed him her ID card. *Id.* Strom also provided an ID card upon the deputy's request. *Id.* The deputy took the IDs to his patrol vehicle to check S.J.'s status and for warrants and learned S.J. did not have a driver's license and Strom had a warrant out for her arrest. *Id.* While the deputy was in his car, S.J. contacted the van's owner who was on his way to get the vehicle. *Id.* Strom was arrested on the warrant and later charged with possession of dangerous drugs. *Id.*

This Court reversed the order denying Strom's motion to suppress wherein the court concluded there had not been a seizure, finding that a reasonable person would not have felt free to leave. *Strom*, ¶ 13. This Court further considered whether the deputy had particularized suspicion to conduct an investigatory stop during which he learned Strom's name. *Strom*, ¶¶ 14-17.

This Court held the deputy did not have objective data from which to initiate an investigatory stop of S.J., explaining that her "apparent youthfulness" was insufficient to believe she was not a licensed driver. *Strom*, ¶ 16. This Court further concluded there was no objective data or resulting suspicion that S.J. would drive the van, and further noted that S.J. had arranged for the van's owner to come to the park. *Strom*, ¶16. Since there was no particularized suspicion for the impetus of the "stop," any information gleaned thereafter should have been suppressed. *Strom, supra*.

Here, it is undisputed that Smock's speeding was objective data to support particularized suspicion to stop the vehicle. Deputy Cordova knew that the registered owner, Smock, had a suspended driver's license and he properly confirmed it was Smock who was driving. Unlike *Strom*, the deputy had every reason to believe that Smock would drive as he had just pulled her over. In addition, unlike S.J.'s van that was not running and parked at a city park, here,

Smock was pulled over on a busy highway where a vehicle should not be parked for a length of time.

Unlike *Strom*, here, Deputy Cordova lawfully stopped the car for speeding and properly determined Smock could not lawfully drive. The deputy had a valid reason to determine if there was a licensed driver in the car which was “reasonably related to the stop.” When the deputy mentioned there needed to be a licensed driver, neither O’Howell nor Laird spoke up and Hamlin stated he had a learner’s permit. Thus, the concern for public safety was not dispelled since none of the passengers stated they could legally drive. Contrary to O’Howell’s position, the deputy’s request for such basic, non-invasive information did not exceed the original basis for the stop. Nor did the deputy exceed the original basis when he asked if Smock would sit in the patrol car while he finished writing out the citations.

When assessing “the reasonableness of the duration and scope of an investigative stop [courts] must recognize that the State’s compelling interest in ‘effective law enforcement’ demands that officers in the field have reasonable ‘latitude’ to reach, follow up on, and confirm or dispel initial suspicions of criminal activity.” *Laster*, ¶ 13 (citing *Sharp*, 217 Mont. at 47, 702 P.2d at 963; *Michigan v. Summers*, 452 U.S. 692, 700 n.12 (1981) (“key principle of [constitutional] reasonableness” is “the balancing of competing interests”— discussing various permissible “investigative techniques which may be [used]

effectively in the course of a *Terry*-type stop” including request for identification and interrogation regarding the suspicious activity).

Asking Smock to sit in the patrol car did not extend the scope of the stop. The deputy was justified in asking Smock to come to his patrol vehicle to complete his investigation and write traffic citations. As Deputy Cordova explained, he wanted to talk to Smock without extraneous input from the passengers. He had also learned that Hamlin was on probation, which the deputy wanted to look further into for his own safety. The fact Deputy Cordova had noted the passengers’ suspicious behaviors prior to the stop and when talking to Smock in the patrol vehicle, does not negate the justified reasons he had for asking if someone had a driver’s license and asking if Smock would sit in his patrol car.

The circumstances here are not akin to *Strom* where this Court found the deputy’s initial inquiries were improper. Here, it is undisputed that Smock’s speeding justified the deputy stopping her vehicle. Deputy Cordova also had reason to believe the driver did not have a valid driver’s license and after confirming that, the deputy was acting within the scope of the traffic stop when he asked the passengers for their names and if any one of them possessed a driver’s license. Deputy Cordova was also acting within the scope of the initial stop when he asked Smock to sit in the patrol car while he completed the traffic citations. Also, unlike *Strom*, who arranged for the van’s owner to come drive the vehicle,

Smock's only suggestion for a driver was Hamlin, who could not lawfully drive without another licensed driver.

Within only 12 minutes since the stop began, and while he was in his patrol car talking to Smock and completing the citations, Deputy Cordova learned O'Howell had a warrant out for his arrest. While Deputy Cordova also talked to Smock about the passengers' odd behaviors and his suspicion that something illegal was going on, he was not dilatory. Within only a couple minutes of securing O'Howell, and while the deputy was still finishing the citations, Laird drove off. Laird's action not only created additional particularized suspicion for Deputy Cordova, but it also created particularized suspicion that a new offense had been or was about to be committed. Laird's erratic driving and attempt to elude the trooper established probable cause to stop the vehicle. The totality of events that night, along with Laird's demeanor after being stopped, created probable cause to search the vehicle.

Deputy Cordova's actions during the 12 minutes after initiating the stop were not dilatory and were within purpose of the stop. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 46-5-401(2)(a), -403. The district court properly evaluated the totality of the circumstances and considered "quantity or content of the information available to the deputy and the quality or degree of reliability of that information" when it denied O'Howell's motion to suppress. *Wagner*, ¶ 10.

**B. Deputy Cordova did not improperly prolong the duration of the lawful stop.**

Even if Deputy Cordova's actions (asking for the names of the passengers and Smock to sit in the patrol car) are characterized as "extending the stop," his actions were not improper.

"[I]nvestigative stops may be prolonged, and the scope of the investigation enlarged, provided the scope of the investigation remains within the limits created by the facts and suspicions from which they arose." *State v. Harning*, 2022 MT 61, ¶ 15, 408 Mont. 140, 507 P.3d 145 (citing *State v. Estes*, 2017 MT 226, ¶ 15, 388 Mont. 491, 403 P.3d 1249). "Based on additional information developed during the initial lawful duration and scope of an initial investigative stop, an officer may develop new or broader particularized suspicion of criminal activity justifying expansion of the scope or duration of the stop beyond that justified by the deputy's initial observations." *Kroschel*, ¶ 19; *State v. Hoover*, 2017 MT 236, ¶ 19, 388 Mont. 533, 402 P.3d 1224 (Particularized suspicion may evolve during a lawful stop if an officer notes "additional 'specific and articulable facts' indicating that the occupants of the vehicle had committed, were committing, or were about to commit a specific criminal offense.").

In determining the reasonableness of the duration of a stop, the United States Supreme Court explained that the reviewing court

should not indulge in unrealistic second-guessing. A creative judge engaged in post hoc evaluation of police conduct can almost always imagine some alternative means by which the objectives of the police might have been accomplished. But [the] fact that the protection of the public might, in the abstract, have been accomplished by “less intrusive” means does not, by itself, render the search unreasonable. The question is not simply whether some other alternative was available, but whether the police acted unreasonably in failing to recognize or to pursue it.

*Sharpe*, 470 U.S. at 686-87 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

This Court has explained that “the tolerable duration of police inquiries in the traffic-stop context is determined by the seizure’s ‘mission’—to address the traffic violation that warranted the stop . . . and attend to related safety concerns.” *Harning*, ¶ 25 (citing *Rodriguez*, 575 U.S. at 354 (internal citations omitted)).

Unlike *Harning*, where the trooper “detoured” from the “mission” of addressing the driver’s traffic violation by extending the scope of the stop into a canine sniff, here Deputy Cordova’s non-invasive inquiry into the passengers’ information to determine if there was a legal driver and his request that Smock sit in the patrol car as he issued citations for speeding and driving while suspended were not “detours” from the reason for the investigatory stop. It was at this point that Deputy Cordova learned of O’Howell’s warrant which he quickly acted upon by detaining O’Howell. During that process, Hamlin lied about where he was on

probation and shortly after securing O’Howell and while he was still finishing the citations, Laird drove off. Deputy Cordova did not improperly prolong the stop.

Deputy Cordova’s questions sought to confirm there was a lawful driver; they were not a pretext to conduct a drug investigation as occurred in the other cases relied upon by O’Howell. *See Noli, supra*; *State v. Carrywater*, 2022 MT 131, 409 Mont. 194, 512 P.3d 1180; *State v. Wilson*, 2018 MT 268, 393 Mont. 238, 430 P.3d 77; and *United States v. Evans*, 786 F.3d 779 (9th Cir. 2015) (held, by conducting additional felony registration check and dog sniff of car after completing reason for the traffic stop was unreasonable because it went beyond ordinary inquiries and to ensure vehicles on the road are operating in a safe and responsible manner).

Nor were the circumstances here akin to *State v. Broken Rope*, 278 Mont. 427, 428-33, 925 P.2d 1157, 1157-60 (1996) (strange actions in parking lot and using pay telephone not “inherently suspicious” or objectively indicative of illegal drug activity). Unlike *Broken Rope*, as explained above, it was not the passengers’ furtive movements or compulsive glances back at the deputy that caused him to ask for the passengers’ names and if someone had a driver’s license. Deputy Cordova immediately explained to the group, “We gotta figure out who is gonna drive, I guess, is what I am worried about.” (Ex. B at 1:45.)

While completing a lawful traffic stop, Deputy Cordova learned O’Howell’s name and determined there was a warrant out for his arrest, that Smock changed her story about where they were traveling and how well she knew the passengers, and that Hamlin lied about where he was on probation. Next, and within minutes of lawfully detaining O’Howell, Laird drove off leaving Hamlin behind. Deputy Cordova also learned that Laird had given a false name and had driven off because he was “wanted.” Under the totality of the circumstances presented, Deputy Cordova did not improperly prolong the stop. *Laster*, ¶ 14 (“[B]ased on additional information developed during the lawful duration and scope of the initial stop, new or broader particularized suspicion of criminal activity may develop and thus expand the permissible duration and scope of the stop beyond its initial purpose.”).

Even if Deputy Cordova’s interest in learning if another licensed driver was available and his request to Smock to sit in the patrol car are considered an extension of the initial stop, the deputy’s actions did not improperly extend the stop. The district court did not err when it denied O’Howell’s motion to suppress.

**II. The State presented sufficient evidence to convict O’Howell of accountability to criminal possession of dangerous drugs with intent to sell.**

O’Howell relies solely upon *State v. Tollie*, 2022 MT 59, ¶ 12, 408 Mont. 129, 506 P.3d 1021, to assert his felony conviction should be reversed. Relying

upon *Tollie*, O’Howell further asserts that whether there was sufficient evidence to corroborate the testimony of an accomplice is a question of law which should be reviewed for correctness. (*Id.*) However, here there is no legal conclusion for this Court to review because, unlike in *Tollie*, ¶ 10, O’Howell did not move to dismiss for insufficient accomplice testimony. *See also State v. Fey*, 2000 MT 211, 301 Mont. 28, 7 P.3d 358 (affirmed trial court’s order denying motion for “Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict” based on alleged lack of corroboration of accomplice testimony). *But see State v. Kemp*, 182 Mont. 383, 597 P.2d 96 (1979) (record unclear if trial court asked to make ruling of law that accomplice testimony was insufficient).

Nonetheless, O’Howell is correct that a defendant may challenge the sufficiency of the evidence for the first time on appeal. Accordingly, while there is no legal conclusion by the district court to review, in its *de novo* review to determine if sufficient evidence supported O’Howell’s conviction, this Court must consider the “evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution to determine whether any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Palafox*, ¶ 16; *State v. Byers*, 2003 MT 86, ¶ 6, 315 Mont. 89, 67 P.3d 880.

As part of this *de novo* review, it is important to note that the jury was instructed on the legal standards relevant to accomplice testimony from Mont.

Code Ann. §§ 26-1-303(4) and 46-18-213. (See JI Nos. 13, 15.) “It is a well recognized principle of law that juries are presumed to follow the law as given them.” *State v. Turner*, 262 Mont. 39, 55, 864 P.2d 235, 245 (1993); *State v. Smith*, 2021 MT 148, ¶ 49, 404 Mont. 245, 488 P.3d 531 (appellate courts presume jury followed instructions).

**A. The jury was presented with compelling evidence that Smock was not an accomplice, so her testimony did not require corroboration.**

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